# Intravenous Curcumin in **Cancer** Care

# **Healthcare Provider Resource**

To view the patient version, visit **CCNM research** 

Developed by: The Patterson Institute for Integrative Oncology Research of the Canadian College of Naturopathic Medicine

Created and last updated: February 2024



# **Table of Contents**

General information	
Summary	2
Background	2
Methods	2
Pharmacokinetics	
Mechanism of Action	
Clinical Evidence Related to Effectiveness	4
Adverse Events and Side Effects	6
Interactions with cancer treatments and other medications	6
Chemotherapy, radiation, and endocrine therapy:	6
Other medications:	7
Impact on cytochrome P450 system	8
Cautions and Contraindications	
Dosing, frequency, and length of treatment	
Disclaimer	
Table 1: Clinical trials of IV curcumin for cancer	9
References:	

## **General information**

<u>Common name(s)</u>: Curcumin, turmeric

Proper names(s): Curcuma longa

<u>Routes of administration</u>: Oral and intravenous (IV). This monograph will discuss only IV administration.

#### Reported uses in cancer care:

IV curcumin has been used by integrative cancer care practitioners with goals of improving survival and tumour response, enhancing the effect of cancer treatments, improving quality of life (QoL), and ameliorating cancer-treatment related adverse effects.

#### **Summary**

Curcumin is used to treat various health conditions. most commonly with oral formulations. When ingested, its clinical use is limited by poor bioavailability, solubility, rapid metabolism, and clearance. Intravenous (IV) administration has been suggested as a method to overcome some of these limitations. IV curcumin is used by some integrative cancer practitioners with goals of improving cancer outcomes and quality of life. Our search yielded 6 studies including one randomized controlled trial, three phase 1 studies of safety and pharmacokinetics (PK), and 2 case reports. One of the phase I studies was conducted in healthy adults but is included due to a paucity of data. There is insufficient data to establish efficacy, safety, dosage, and drug interactions for IV curcumin in cancer care at this time. Preliminary data suggests IV curcumin is likely safe when used at the studied doses and formulations. More highquality research is warranted with standardization of curcumin formulations, doses, scheduling, and cancer patient population.

## **Background**

Curcumin is one of the bioactive compounds of turmeric (*Curcuma longa*), an herbaceous plant belonging to the Ginger family.<sup>1,2</sup> Curcumin represents about 3% of turmeric constituents. Most of the medicinal properties of turmeric are related to curcumin, mainly the anti-inflammatory and anticancer effects.<sup>2-4</sup>

Curcumin is investigated and used mainly in its oral form to treat various health conditions, including inflammatory conditions, liver diseases, metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders, and several types of cancer.<sup>5</sup> However, it's clinical use is limited by poor bioavailability, solubility rapid metabolism, and rapid clearance.<sup>6,7</sup>

Intravenous curcumin has been proposed as a method to overcome some of the limitations related to bioavailability. This monograph summarizes the available literature on the use of IV curcumin in cancer care.

### **Methods**

Monographs are created by the Patterson Institute for Integrative Oncology Research and are updated approximately every two years, or when significant new literature is published. A comprehensive and structured literature search was completed in Medline and Cochrane Library for IV curcumin and cancer from inception to May 31, 2023. Eligibility criteria included English-language human studies in cancer reporting on efficacy, QoL, safety, or feasibility of using IV curcumin among cancer patients. Studies among healthy human populations were included if they commented on safety, PK, or pharmacodynamics (PD), and if there are limited studies among cancer populations. A scoping review was performed to identify missing papers

and background information. The papers were screened by two reviewers independently. Data was extracted into standardized spreadsheets, and studies summarized using descriptive statistics.

#### **Pharmacokinetics**

Pharmacokinetic distribution of curcumin is limited due to poor water solubility, low bioavailability, and subsequently low circulating levels.<sup>8,9</sup>

Various formulations of oral curcumin have been developed aiming to increase its bioavailability. These techniques include adding substances to curcumin such as lipids and piperine, manipulating adsorption and dispersion, and reducing particle size.<sup>7</sup> Examples include curcumin-piperine complexes, and nanoformulation curcumin including polymorphic nanoparticles. liposomes, cyclodextrin incorporation into inclusions, micelles, curcumin phospholipid and complexes.<sup>10,11</sup> The bioavailability of orally administered curcumin varies widely based on the formulation used. Amorphous, micellar and micronized oral formulations appear to provide the most significant absorption of free and bioactive curcumin with more than 100-400-fold absorption enhanced compared as to curcumin.<sup>7,12,13</sup> unformulated Despite the emergence of these enhanced-bioavailability formulas, the pharmacokinetics of oral curcumin remains a concern. By bypassing the digestive system IV curcumin may overcome some of these limitations.9

The pharmacokinetics of IV curcumin have been evaluated in three phase I studies, all of which used liposomal curcumin.<sup>14-16</sup> There were dosedependent, and infusion-dependent increases in the plasma concentration of curcumin. The maximum concentration (Cmax) ranged from 42 – 2,575 ng/mL after IV administration with escalating doses up to 400 mg/m<sup>2</sup>. The concentration increased rapidly in the first 15 minutes and remained stable throughout the infusion.<sup>14,15</sup> Increased plasma concentrations were also observed with increasing the rate of infusion.<sup>15,16</sup> The mean time to concentration maximum was 0.4 to 4.0 hours across a dose range of 100–400 mg/m<sup>2</sup> infused over 2-8 hours. <sup>14,15</sup>

Curcumin is rapidly metabolized to tetrahydrocurcumin (THC) and hexahydrocurcumin by reductase enzymes.17,18 Following the infusion there is a rapid decrease of curcumin and its metabolites within 60 minutes. The half-life of curcumin varies, but is consistently reported as less than one hour.<sup>14-16</sup> A shorter duration of clearance was detected in cancer patients compared to healthy individuals.<sup>16</sup>

In summary, IV curcumin is rapidly absorbed and metabolized, and has a short elimination half-life. Increasing the dose and infusion rate increases the maximum concentration obtainable. Only the liposomal form has been well studied for its pharmacokinetic profile, and whether this data can be extrapolated to other forms is unclear.

### **Mechanism of Action**

Curcumin has pleotropic effects which may be beneficial as a supportive cancer treatment. In addition to anti-inflammatory effects, curcumin targets several signaling pathways leading to immune modulation, counteracting drug resistance. anti-angiogenic, cytotoxic, antiproliferative, and pro-apoptotic effects.<sup>2</sup> Curcumin has minimal harmful effects against cells,<sup>19-21</sup> normal and has demonstrated stimulatory and protective effects on normal stem cells.<sup>22-26</sup>

Most data on the mechanism of action of curcumin in cancer management is derived from preclinical data.

# Immune modulation and anti-inflammatory effects

Chronic inflammation can produce genetic instability, which can serve as one of the first signals for the initiation of cancer.<sup>27,28</sup> Curcumin acts on various inflammatory molecules and pathways, inhibiting their actions. Curcumin binds directly to reactive oxygen species (ROS) and may lead to suppressing the growth and metastasis of some types of cancer.<sup>29</sup> Curcumin also has an inhibitory action on the NF-*k*B-dependent pathway, <sup>30,31</sup> can downregulate the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines through binding of nuclear proteins,<sup>32</sup> and can downregulate the expression of the transcription factor AP-1 and of (COX2).33,34

In addition, curcumin has been found to modulate the cellular response of B and T lymphocytes, macrophages, and natural killer cells,<sup>35</sup> and also effect both the expression and action of immune cytokines.<sup>2</sup>

#### Anti-angiogenic effects

Angiogenesis is among the factors that can lead to maintaining cell survival, cell spread, and chemoresistance of a tumour and contributes to the initiation and survival of cancer cells through induction of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway.<sup>36</sup> Curcumin, through inactivation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, may lead to downregulating cancer-related genes and curtailing angiogenesis.<sup>37,38</sup>

#### Counteracting drug resistance

Curcumin may decrease drug resistance to various chemotherapy agents by reducing the expression of proteins related to drug resistance.<sup>39</sup> This has been demonstrated in preclinic studies using different chemotherapy-resistant cell lines

including breast, colon, cervical, prostate, and lung cancer cells, and various chemotherapy agents including paclitaxel, docetaxel, cisplatin, oxaliplatin, and 5-fluorouracil.<sup>40-42</sup>

# *Cytotoxic, anti-proliferative, and apoptotic effects*

Curcumin may suppress the proliferation of cancer cells by interrupting the cell cycle through inhibiting the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway and increasing the levels of p53, p21, and p27.<sup>43</sup> Curcumin could also promote apoptosis by enhancing the expression of apoptotic proteins (Bax, Cleaved-caspase-3, etc.), and inhibiting the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins (Bcl-2).<sup>43</sup> Further, curcumin has been shown to induce cytotoxic effects on different cancer cell lines.<sup>44,45</sup>

#### Protection of normal cells

Curcumin has differential effects on cancer cells compared to healthy cells. In healthy cells it has a protective effect, even stimulating proliferation.<sup>46</sup> Curcumin may concentrate in cancer cells more so than in normal cells.<sup>47,48</sup>

# <u>Clinical Evidence Related to</u> <u>Effectiveness</u>

Six studies were identified for the use of IV curcumin. Five studies were conducted among cancer patients,<sup>15,16,49-51</sup> and one study in healthy adults.<sup>14</sup> These six studies comprised one randomised controlled study,<sup>49</sup> three phase 1 studies,<sup>14-16</sup> and 2 case reports.<sup>50,51</sup> Two of the phase I studies<sup>14,16</sup> and one of the case reports<sup>51</sup> did not report on any efficacy outcomes, and thus are not discussed in this section but are discussed elsewhere in the monograph. Overall, there is insufficient data to determine the efficacy of IV curcumin use among cancer patients and more high-quality research is warranted.

The only RCT was a placebo-controlled, doubleblind study with 150 advanced and metastatic breast cancer patients.<sup>49</sup> Patients received paclitaxel (80 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) with either curcumin 300 mg (CUC-1<sup>®</sup>, a micellar nanoformulation of curcumin) or placebo, once weekly for 12 weeks. Objective response rate (ORR) was the primary outcome. Secondary outcomes included time to tumour treatment failure, time to tumour progression (TTP), progression-free survival (PFS), quality of life, and safety.

At four and 12 weeks post-intervention in the intention to treat analysis, the ORR (complete + partial response) in the curcumin group was higher than in the placebo group (4 weeks: 50.7% vs. 33.3%, p < 0.01; 12 weeks: 29% vs. 20%, P =0.091). In a per-protocol analysis the difference was more pronounced (4 weeks: 61% vs. 38%, P = 0.004, 12 weeks: 44.9% vs. 27.8%, p = 0.034 for curcumin and placebo groups respectively). The median PFS in the curcumin group was nonsignificantly longer than in the control group (27.0 weeks vs. 24.6 weeks, P = 0.35). Compared to placebo, the curcumin group had lower rates of fatigue (3 vs. 10 patients P = 0.05) and better performance status based on Karnofsky Performance Status (P = 0.046). However, no significant difference was observed between groups regarding other patient reported QOL scores and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) scores. Eighty-one patients (54.0%) reported treatment-emergent adverse events (TEAEs), with no difference between the curcumin and placebo arms (54% and 56% respectively). Further discussion of the safety and tolerability outcomes are outlined in the safety section. The authors reported that curcumin in combination with paclitaxel was superior to the paclitaxel-placebo concerning combination physical performance after 12 weeks of treatment and ORR at a short-term follow-up in patients with advanced and metastatic breast cancer.

In a phase I study, 32 patients with metastatic tumours who were not candidates for further antitumour treatment received a weekly IV infusion of liposomal curcumin for 8 weeks in dose escalation from 100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> over 8 hours to 300 mg/m<sup>2</sup> over 6 hours.<sup>15</sup> The primary outcomes were tolerability and safety of escalating doses of liposomal curcumin, and secondary outcomes included anti-tumour activity and curcumin's PKs. Only eight patients (25.0%) received all eight planned infusions. The most common reasons for stopping the treatment were disease progression and deterioration of general medical condition. Objective tumour responses were not detected; however, significant tumour marker responses and transient clinical benefit were observed in two patients. No dose limiting toxicities were observed.

One case report involved a 50-year-old male patient who had recurrent metastatic (in the lung) adenoid cystic carcinoma of the submandibular salivary gland post resection, radiotherapy, and first line chemotherapy.<sup>50</sup> The patient received IV curcumin (water soluble 225 mg/m<sup>2</sup> twice weekly for six months plus oral bioavailable curcumin (Arantal®) 2 × 84 mg/day and imatinib 400 mg/day (both continued after the IV curcumin). The aim was to target c-kit overexpression with imatinib and inhibit NF-kB overexpression through the addition of curcumin. After six months of treatment, PET/CT scan indicated significant anatomical reduction and metabolic regression of the tumour masses. At 24 months, near complete anatomic and complete metabolic response was reported. IV curcumin and the biooptimized oral were well tolerated, with no toxicities or adverse reactions reported. However, due to the activity of imatinib against c-kitpositive tumors, the contributions from adding curcumin to the efficacy of this patient's treatment regimen is unknown.

### **Adverse Events and Side Effects**

In general, based on the limited clinical data available, IV curcumin has been well tolerated. It should be noted that different curcumin formulations could have different safety and tolerability profiles.

Four identified studies reported on safety and adverse events: one RCT,<sup>49</sup> two phase I studies,<sup>14,15</sup> and one case report.<sup>51</sup> In all studies other than the case report, IV curcumin was well tolerated with reported adverse events generally being mild and resolving without complication. The adverse events listed are all from the phase I studies.<sup>14,15</sup> The RCT of curcumin in breast cancer patients receiving paclitaxel found no significant difference in any adverse event between groups.<sup>49</sup>

The most commonly reported adverse events from the two phase I studies included fever and chills, anemia, red blood cell abnormalities (primarily echinocytes, however one case of grade hemolysis 3 was reported), dizziness/headache, nasopharyngitis/rhinitis, various laboratory abnormalities including increased AST, mean cell volume, blood lactic acid. and EKG deviations and OT prolongation.<sup>14,15</sup> Other less frequently reported adverse effects included gastrointestinal effects, fatigue, chest discomfort, epistaxis, decreased platelet count, cough, hypertrichosis, and infusion-related reactions.

Three serious adverse events were reported including one case each of hemolysis (grade 3), hyponatremia (in patient with pre-existing hyponatremia), and facial edema (grade 2 but required treatment).<sup>15</sup>

Unpublished data from a clinician with experience using IV curcumin in cancer populations reported the following side effects with the use of IV curcumin emulsion: nausea and vomiting, transient "manic"/euphoric symptoms (during/up to 2-4 hours post IV), peripheral heat and hand/foot itching in higher doses (duration 1-2 days), skin rash and redness, dizziness, and diarrhea.<sup>52</sup>

One case study reported on a woman with metastasized endometrial sarcoma who received frequent infusions of curcumin.<sup>51</sup> The outlet connection of the catheter was clogged with a yellow substance, and the patient repeatedly presented with occlusion of the catheter port. This occlusion was assumed to be related to the curcumin infusion. No information was provided on the type, frequency and dose of the curcumin infusion used.

# Interactions with cancer treatments and other medications

# *Chemotherapy, radiation, and endocrine therapy:*

Data on the interaction potential of IV curcumin with standard cancer treatments is limited. Therefore, studies using oral curcumin have also been included to help inform this section.

Taxane chemotherapy: One clinical trial administered IV curcumin with paclitaxel and reported no significant difference between the curcumin and placebo groups regarding toxicities or response rates;<sup>49</sup> therefore, a negative interaction is unlikely. Oral curcumin has been combined without evidence of a negative interaction with docetaxel in metastatic breast, <sup>53</sup> and metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer.<sup>54</sup> Additionally, in vitro, a synergistic effect on docetaxel with the use of curcumin has been detected.<sup>55</sup>

Other chemotherapy agents: Oral curcumin has been combined with gemcitabine in advanced and

metastatic pancreatic cancer,<sup>56-58</sup> and FOLFOX chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer.<sup>59,60</sup> In vitro studies demonstrated that vinblastineinduced tumour cell death might be inhibited by curcumin,<sup>61</sup> and doxorubicin-induced apoptosis of breast cancer cell lines could be inhibited by curcumin.<sup>62</sup> Animal studies revealed that dietary curcumin inhibits cyclophosphamide-induced tumour regression,<sup>62</sup> and camptothecin-induced apoptosis of breast cancer cells.<sup>62</sup> These interactions could be through curcumin's interference with cytochrome P450 enzymes.<sup>62-64</sup> However, research is conflicting and the clinical relevance of these findings not certain.

Radiation: Multiple studies have investigated the concomitant use of oral curcumin with radiation therapy for mitigation of radiation induced side effects such as dermatitis,<sup>65-67</sup> and mucositis.<sup>68-70</sup> However, none of these studies reported on radiation efficacy outcomes, thus a negative interaction cannot be ruled out. Ample preclinical data has suggested that curcumin has radiosensitizing effects.<sup>71-77</sup>

Endocrine therapy: Among breast cancer patients,, the use of oral curcumin significantly reduces the PK parameters of tamoxifen and its metabolite endoxifen, which may decrease the efficacy of tamoxifen. This effect was more pronounced in patients who were extensive CYP2D6 metabolizers compared to intermediate.<sup>78</sup>

#### Other medications:

Anticoagulants and antiplatelet medications: There is concern that curcumin may interact with anticoagulant and antiplatelet medications through pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic pathways; however, the evidence on this is mixed. For example, oral curcumin may affect the PKs of warfarin and clopidogrel but there is no evidence concerning an impact on the coagulation rate and platelet aggregation.<sup>79</sup>

Similarly oral curcumin supplementation for 10 days resulted in no significant differences in bleeding time in patients on acetylsalicylic acid, ticlopidine or clopidogrel at standard dosages. Additionally, there was no difference in INR in patients taking warfarin or dabigatran after the initiation of curcumin.<sup>80</sup> In contrast, curcumin and its derivatives have antithrombotic and anticoagulant activities through prolongation of aPTT and PT and inhibition of thrombin and FXa activities in the preclinical setting.<sup>81</sup> One case report of increased international normalized ratio (INR) has been reported in a patient who began taking turmeric while he was on warfarin with stable INR.<sup>82</sup> Caution is warranted when combining curcumin with anticoagulant and antiplatelet medications.

One study explored interactions of IV curcumin with 44 commonly used medications which have the potential to interact with hepatic uptake transporters.<sup>16</sup> The only notable effect was that three medications targeting the renin–angiotensin system (Lisinopril, Ramipril, and Valsartan), elevated plasma levels of curcumin in three cancer patients who received IV curcumin. However, there was no data on the effect of curcumin on these medications.

Based on preclinical data, curcumin may reduce efficacy of ciprofloxacin and cotrimoxazole.<sup>83,84</sup> Curcumin increased the plasma levels of tacrolimus an (immunosuppressant) in a murine model.<sup>85</sup>A case report noted acute nephrotoxicity related to tacrolimus in a patient with a history of liver transplantation following concurrent use of high amounts of turmeric.<sup>86</sup>

In addition, in vitro studies revealed that curcumin increases concentrations of verapamil.<sup>87</sup> Curcumin's cytotoxic effects have been shown to be increased in the presence of acetaminophen,<sup>87</sup> aspirin or ibuprofen.<sup>88</sup> However, the clinical effects of these interactions are not known.

#### Impact on cytochrome P450 system

Curcumin may alter some cytochrome P450 enzymes.<sup>89</sup> Curcumin may inhibit CYP 1A2 <sup>64</sup> and CYP 2D6 ,<sup>90</sup> and induce CYP 2A6 enzymes.<sup>64</sup> Curcumin is not likely to impact CYP3A4 or CYP 2C9 in a clinically meaningful way based on several human studies.<sup>90-94</sup> Therefore caution should be exercised when using curcumin with CYP 2D6, CYP 1A2, or CYP 2A6 metabolized medications.

#### Cautions and Contraindications.

Caution should be applied when administering IV curcumin with patients receiving anticoagulant and anti-platelet medications.<sup>95</sup> As noted, an in vivo study demonstrated that oral curcumin may affect the PKs of warfarin and clopidogrel but without impacting the coagulation rate and platelet aggregation.<sup>79</sup> Similarly, caution should be applied with the use of IV curcumin in patients with gall bladder disease as this might increase gall bladder contractions.<sup>52,96</sup>

Two deaths have been reported from the administration of IV curcumin with polyethylene glycol (PEG) 40 castor oil. However, upon investigation it was determined that the deaths were not related to the curcumin itself.<sup>97</sup> The deaths were found to be related to non-pharmaceutical grade components and uncontrolled ingredients which caused acute hypersensitivity reactions.<sup>49,98</sup>

# Dosing, frequency, and length of treatment

For liposomal curcumin, the doses reported in studies ranged between  $100-300 \text{ mg/m}^2$  over 2 to

8 hours.<sup>14-16</sup> This equates to a dose of 170-510 mg for an average adult with a 1.7 m<sup>2</sup> surface area. One study recommended the dose for future anticancer research be 300 mg/m<sup>2</sup> delivered over 6 hours.<sup>15</sup> In this study, patients were pre-medicated with 50 mg of diphenhydramine before each treatment. Another study using a curcuminoid formulation in polyoxyl castor oil in a micellar nonoformulation applied a dosage of 300 mg IV once weekly.<sup>49</sup>

Unpublished data from an integrative cancer practitioner based on clinical experience recommends starting with a test dose for reaction/allergy of 5 - 10 mg/kg of IV curcumin emulsion formulation then escalating to a maximum of 30-40 mg/kg.<sup>52</sup> Similarly, data presented at the 2022 Oncology Association of Naturopathic Physicians (OncANP) conference reported administration of IV curcumin at doses ranging from 1.2 mg/kg - 40 mg/kg in patients with advanced cancer.<sup>99</sup> The authors suggested that higher doses (20-40 mg/kg) may be more effective.

At least one practitioner recommends that patients consume a fiber supplement for bile sequestration before, during, and on the evening of the infusion to counteract the aggressive choleretic effects that might happen with the start of the infusion.<sup>52</sup>

### **Disclaimer**

This monograph provides a summary of available evidence and neither advocates for nor against the use of a particular therapy. Every effort is made to ensure the information included in this monograph is accurate at the time it is published. Prior to using a new therapy or product, always consult a licensed health care provider. The information in this monograph should not be interpreted as medical advice nor should it replace the advice of a qualified health care provider.

# Table 1: Clinical trials of IV curcumin for cancer

Reference	Study	Participants	Intervention	Control	Outcomes and measures	Results
Saghatelyan 2020 <sup>49</sup>	design RCT	150 patients (75 in each group) with advanced and metastatic breast cancer	Curcumin (CUC- 1®) 300 mg IV once weekly for 12 consecutive weeks) + paclitaxel	Placebo (riboflavin) + paclitaxel once weekly for 12 consecutive weeks).	ORR, TTTF, TTP, PFS, QoL, and safety.	The ORR in the curcumin group was higher than that of the placebo group at 4 weeks of follow-up (51% vs. 33%, P < 0.01) and at 12 weeks of follow-up (29% vs. 20%, P = 0.091) in the ITT analysis. The median PFS in the curcumin group (27.0 weeks) was 2.4 weeks longer than in the placebo group (24.6 weeks), P = 0.35, HR: 1.278). Longer median TTP was also detected in favor of the curcumin group (27.0 weeks vs 24.6 weeks, P = 0.30, HR: 1.319). Fatigue was reported at a lower rate in the curcumin group vs. placebo (3 vs. 10 patients, respectively; OR =3.7, P = 0.05). The overall physical performance reported was higher with curcumin vs. placebo. The percentage of TEAEs was 54% in curcumin group vs 65% in the placebo group with no p value reported
Bolger 2019 <sup>16</sup>	Phase 1 PK study	Cancer patients (Not defined) and healthy individuals	Lipocurc <sup>™</sup> IV liposomal curcumin (Polymun Scientific (Klosterneu burg, Austria) of 37.5 and 50 mg/m2 /h in cancer patients and at 120 and 160 mg/m2 /h in healthy individuals	NA	To compare plasma levels of curcumin and THC at different infusion rates between cancer patients and healthy individuals. Correlation analysis to determine the impact of co- medication on infusion rate normalized plasma levels of curcumin and THC in cancer patients.	The PK of curcumin infusion patients was impacted by either co- medications, health status ( cancer vs. healthy), or both. Increased infusion rate from 37.5 to 50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> /hour in cancer patient and in healthy individuals from 120 to 160 mg/m <sup>2</sup> /hour, led to increased plasma levels of curcumin which was more evident in cancer patients compared to healthy individuals. The mean $\pm$ SD of the C max (ng/mL) for healthy adults varied between 1446 $\pm$ 382 and 2574 $\pm$ 453 vs. 1027 $\pm$ 199 and 1428 $\pm$ 552 for cancer patients. The mean $\pm$ SD of t1/2 (h) was varied between 1.30 $\pm$ 0.50 and 1.83 $\pm$ 0.87 for healthy vs 0.26 $\pm$ 0.06 and 0.36 $\pm$ 0.17 for cancer patients.

						Compared to healthy participants, cancer patients had higher plasma levels of curcumin, and shorter elimination phase and half-life. Of 44 co-medications studied, three medications targeting the renin– angiotensin system, Lisinopril, Ramipril, and Valsartan, elevated plasma levels of curcumin and THC in three cancer patients who received IV curcumin.
Greil 2018 <sup>15</sup>	Phase I study,	32 patients with metastatic tumors not eligible for further anti-tumour treatment	A weekly IV infusion of liposomal; Lipocurc <sup>TM</sup> curcumin for 8 weeks in dose escalation from 100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> over 8 hours to 300 mg/m <sup>2</sup> over 6 hours.	NA	Safety, tolerability, anti tumour activity an curcumin PK wer secondary outcomes	1 100 and 300 mg/m <sup>2</sup> over 8 h.

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse events, C max = maximum concentration, h = hour, HR = hazard ratio, ITT = intention to treat, IV = intravenous, ORR = objective response rate, NA = not applicable, PK = pharmacokinetics, PFS = progression-free survival, QoL = quality of life, RCT = randomized clinical trial, SD = standard deviation, t1/2 = terminal elimination half-life, TEAE = treatment emergent adverse event, THC = tetrahydrocurcumin, TTTF = time to tumour treatment failure, <math>TTP = time to tumour progression.

# **References:**

1. Priyadarsini KI. The chemistry of curcumin: from extraction to therapeutic agent. *Molecules*. Dec 1 2014;19(12):20091-112. doi:10.3390/molecules191220091

2. Zoi V, Galani V, Lianos GD, Voulgaris S, Kyritsis AP, Alexiou GA. The Role of Curcumin in Cancer Treatment. *Biomedicines*. Aug 26 2021;9(9)doi:10.3390/biomedicines9091086

3. Kyritsis AP, Bondy ML, Levin VA. Modulation of glioma risk and progression by dietary nutrients and antiinflammatory agents. *Nutr Cancer*. 2011;63(2):174-84. doi:10.1080/01635581.2011.523807

4. PDQ®Integrative A, Complementary Therapies Editorial B. Curcumin (Curcuma, Turmeric) and Cancer (PDQ®): Health Professional Version. *PDQ Cancer Information Summaries*. National Cancer Institute (US); 2002.

5. Hewlings SJ, Kalman DS. Curcumin: A Review of Its Effects on Human Health. *Foods*. Oct 22 2017;6(10)doi:10.3390/foods6100092

6. Tabanelli R, Brogi S, Calderone V. Improving Curcumin Bioavailability: Current Strategies and Future Perspectives. *Pharmaceutics*. Oct 17 2021;13(10)doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics13101715

7. Stohs SJ, Chen O, Ray SD, Ji J, Bucci LR, Preuss HG. Highly Bioavailable Forms of Curcumin and Promising Avenues for Curcumin-Based Research and Application: A Review. *Molecules*. Mar 19 2020;25(6)doi:10.3390/molecules25061397

8. Bagheri M, van Nostrum CF, Kok RJ, Storm G, Hennink WE, Heger M. Utility of Intravenous Curcumin Nanodelivery Systems for Improving In Vivo Pharmacokinetics and Anticancer

Pharmacodynamics. *Mol Pharm.* Sep 5 2022;19(9):3057-3074. doi:10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.2c00455
9. Gutierres VO, Campos ML, Arcaro CA, et al. Curcumin Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Evidences in Streptozotocin-Diabetic Rats Support the Antidiabetic Activity to Be via Metabolite(s). *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* 2015;2015:678218. doi:10.1155/2015/678218

10. Henrotin Y, Priem F, Mobasheri A. Curcumin: a new paradigm and therapeutic opportunity for the treatment of osteoarthritis: curcumin for osteoarthritis management. *Springerplus*. Dec 2013;2(1):56. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-56

11. Jeevanandam J, Chan YS, Danquah MK. Nano-formulations of drugs: Recent developments, impact and challenges. *Biochimie*. 2016/09/01/ 2016;128-129:99-112. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2016.07.008

12. Syng-Ai C, Kumari AL, Khar A. Effect of curcumin on normal and tumor cells: role of glutathione and bcl-2. *Mol Cancer Ther*. Sep 2004;3(9):1101-8.

13. Sunagawa Y, Miyazaki Y, Funamoto M, et al. A novel amorphous preparation improved curcumin bioavailability in healthy volunteers: A single-dose, double-blind, two-way crossover study. *Journal of Functional Foods*. 2021;81:104443.

14. Storka A, Vcelar B, Klickovic U, et al. Safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of liposomal curcumin in healthy humans. *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther*. Jan 2015;53(1):54-65. doi:10.5414/cp202076

15. Greil R, Greil-Ressler S, Weiss L, et al. A phase 1 dose-escalation study on the safety, tolerability and activity of liposomal curcumin (Lipocurc(<sup>TM</sup>)) in patients with locally advanced or metastatic cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* Oct 2018;82(4):695-706. doi:10.1007/s00280-018-3654-0

16. Bolger GT, Licollari A, Tan A, et al. Pharmacokinetics of liposomal curcumin (Lipocurc<sup>TM</sup>) infusion: effect of co-medication in cancer patients and comparison with healthy individuals. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* Feb 2019;83(2):265-275. doi:10.1007/s00280-018-3730-5

17. Wang YJ, Pan MH, Cheng AL, et al. Stability of curcumin in buffer solutions and characterization of its degradation products. *J Pharm Biomed Anal*. Aug 1997;15(12):1867-76. doi:10.1016/s0731-7085(96)02024-9

18. Pan MH, Lin-Shiau SY, Lin JK. Comparative studies on the suppression of nitric oxide synthase by curcumin and its hydrogenated metabolites through down-regulation of IkappaB kinase and NFkappaB

activation in macrophages. *Biochem Pharmacol*. Dec 1 2000;60(11):1665-76. doi:10.1016/s0006-2952(00)00489-5

19. Chainani-Wu N. Safety and anti-inflammatory activity of curcumin: a component of tumeric (Curcuma longa). *J Altern Complement Med*. Feb 2003;9(1):161-8. doi:10.1089/107555303321223035

20. Di Pierro F, Settembre R. Safety and efficacy of an add-on therapy with curcumin phytosome and piperine and/or lipoic acid in subjects with a diagnosis of peripheral neuropathy treated with dexibuprofen. *J Pain Res.* 2013;6:497-503. doi:10.2147/jpr.S48432

21. Kanai M, Otsuka Y, Otsuka K, et al. A phase I study investigating the safety and pharmacokinetics of highly bioavailable curcumin (Theracurmin) in cancer patients. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* Jun 2013;71(6):1521-30. doi:10.1007/s00280-013-2151-8

22. Chen F, Wang H, Xiang X, et al. Curcumin increased the differentiation rate of neurons in neural stem cells via wnt signaling in vitro study. *J Surg Res.* Dec 2014;192(2):298-304. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2014.06.026

23. Tiwari SK, Agarwal S, Seth B, et al. Curcumin-loaded nanoparticles potently induce adult neurogenesis and reverse cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease model via canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway. *ACS Nano*. Jan 28 2014;8(1):76-103. doi:10.1021/nn405077y

24. Chang YC, Chang WC, Hung KH, et al. The generation of induced pluripotent stem cells for macular degeneration as a drug screening platform: identification of curcumin as a protective agent for retinal pigment epithelial cells against oxidative stress. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2014;6:191. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00191

Han J, Pan XY, Xu Y, et al. Curcumin induces autophagy to protect vascular endothelial cell survival from oxidative stress damage. *Autophagy*. May 1 2012;8(5):812-25. doi:10.4161/auto.19471
Xu Y, Ku B, Cui L, et al. Curcumin reverses impaired hippocampal neurogenesis and increases serotonin receptor 1A mRNA and brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in chronically stressed rats. *Brain Res*. Aug 8 2007;1162:9-18. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2007.05.071

27. Murata M. Inflammation and cancer. *Environ Health Prev Med*. Oct 20 2018;23(1):50. doi:10.1186/s12199-018-0740-1

28. Negrini S, Gorgoulis VG, Halazonetis TD. Genomic instability--an evolving hallmark of cancer. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* Mar 2010;11(3):220-8. doi:10.1038/nrm2858

29. Nakamae I, Morimoto T, Shima H, et al. Curcumin Derivatives Verify the Essentiality of ROS Upregulation in Tumor Suppression. *Molecules*. 2019;24(22):4067.

30. Ghasemi F, Shafiee M, Banikazemi Z, et al. Curcumin inhibits NF-kB and Wnt/β-catenin pathways in cervical cancer cells. *Pathol Res Pract*. Oct 2019;215(10):152556. doi:10.1016/j.prp.2019.152556

31. Iqbal B, Ghildiyal A, Singh S, et al. Combinatorial effect of curcumin and tumor necrosis factorα-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) in induction of apoptosis via inhibition of nuclear factor kappa activity and enhancement of caspase-3 activity in chronic myeloid cells: An In-vitro study. *J Cancer Res Ther.* Dec 2018;14(Supplement):S1193-s1200. doi:10.4103/jcrt.JCRT 348 18

32. Das L, Vinayak M. Curcumin Modulates Glycolytic Metabolism and Inflammatory Cytokines via Nrf 2 in Dalton's Lymphoma Ascites Cells In Vivo. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem.* 2018;18(12):1779-1791. doi:10.2174/1871520618666180604093802

33. Kunnumakkara AB, Bordoloi D, Padmavathi G, et al. Curcumin, the golden nutraceutical: multitargeting for multiple chronic diseases. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. 2017/06/01 2017;174(11):1325-1348. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13621

34. Yu Y, Shen Q, Lai Y, et al. Anti-inflammatory Effects of Curcumin in Microglial Cells. Original Research. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*. 2018;9

35. Jagetia GC, Aggarwal BB. "Spicing Up" of the Immune System by Curcumin. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*. 2007/01/01 2007;27(1):19-35. doi:10.1007/s10875-006-9066-7

36. Hayden MS, Ghosh S. NF-κB, the first quarter-century: remarkable progress and outstanding questions. *Genes Dev.* Feb 1 2012;26(3):203-34. doi:10.1101/gad.183434.111

37. Tomeh MA, Hadianamrei R, Zhao X. A Review of Curcumin and Its Derivatives as Anticancer Agents. *Int J Mol Sci*. Feb 27 2019;20(5)doi:10.3390/ijms20051033

38. Killian PH, Kronski E, Michalik KM, et al. Curcumin inhibits prostate cancer metastasis in vivo by targeting the inflammatory cytokines CXCL1 and -2. *Carcinogenesis*. Dec 2012;33(12):2507-19. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgs312

39. Keyvani-Ghamsari S, Khorsandi K, Gul A. Curcumin effect on cancer cells' multidrug resistance: An update. *Phytother Res.* Oct 2020;34(10):2534-2556. doi:10.1002/ptr.6703

40. Shaikh S, Shaikh J, Naba YS, Doke K, Ahmed K, Yusufi M. Curcumin: reclaiming the lost ground against cancer resistance. *Cancer Drug Resist*. 2021;4(2):298-320. doi:10.20517/cdr.2020.92

41. Attia YM, El-Kersh DM, Ammar RA, et al. Inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase-1 and pglycoprotein-mediated multidrug resistance by curcumin and vitamin D3 increases sensitivity to paclitaxel in breast cancer. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*. 2020/01/05/ 2020;315:108865. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2019.108865

42. Zou J, Zhu L, Jiang X, et al. Curcumin increases breast cancer cell sensitivity to cisplatin by decreasing FEN1 expression. *Oncotarget*. Feb 16 2018;9(13):11268-11278. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.24109

43. Yang ZJ, Huang SY, Zhou DD, et al. Effects and Mechanisms of Curcumin for the Prevention and Management of Cancers: An Updated Review. *Antioxidants (Basel)*. Jul 28 2022;11(8)doi:10.3390/antiox11081481

44. Chen Y, Liu WH, Chen BL, et al. Anticancer potential of novel curcumin analogs towards castrate-resistant prostate cancer.

45. Wang C, Song X, Shang M, et al. Curcumin exerts cytotoxicity dependent on reactive oxygen species accumulation in non-small-cell lung cancer cells. *Future Oncology*. 2019;15(11):1243-1253. doi:10.2217/fon-2018-0708

46. Sordillo PP, Helson L. Curcumin and cancer stem cells: curcumin has asymmetrical effects on cancer and normal stem cells. *Anticancer Res.* Feb 2015;35(2):599-614.

47. Kunwar A, Barik A, Mishra B, Rathinasamy K, Pandey R, Priyadarsini KI. Quantitative cellular uptake, localization and cytotoxicity of curcumin in normal and tumor cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. Apr 2008;1780(4):673-9. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2007.11.016

48. Bolger GT, Licollari A, Tan A, et al. Distribution of Curcumin and THC in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells Isolated from Healthy Individuals and Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Anticancer Res.* Jan 2018;38(1):121-130. doi:10.21873/anticanres.12199

49. Saghatelyan T, Tananyan A, Janoyan N, et al. Efficacy and safety of curcumin in combination with paclitaxel in patients with advanced, metastatic breast cancer: A comparative, randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Phytomedicine*. 2020/04/15/ 2020;70:153218. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2020.153218

50. Demiray M, Sahinbas H, Atahan S, et al. Successful treatment of c-kit-positive metastatic Adenoid Cystic Carcinoma (ACC) with a combination of curcumin plus imatinib: A case report. *Complement Ther Med.* Aug 2016;27:108-13. doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2016.06.009

51. Kildal D, Feldhaus FW, Gebauer B. Port Occlusion Due to Curcumin Infusion. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. Oct 4 2019;116(40):678. doi:10.3238/arztebl.2019.0678

52. Paul Anderson. Curcumin Monograph for Intravenous Use.

https://www.consultdranderson.com/wp-content/uploads/securepdfs/2019/04/12-Curcumin-IV-Monograph-Anderson.pdf2017.

53. Bayet-Robert M, Kwiatkowski F, Leheurteur M, et al. Phase I dose escalation trial of docetaxel plus curcumin in patients with advanced and metastatic breast cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther.* Jan 2010;9(1):8-14. doi:10.4161/cbt.9.1.10392

54. Passildas-Jahanmohan J, Eymard JC, Pouget M, et al. Multicenter randomized phase II study comparing docetaxel plus curcumin versus docetaxel plus placebo in first-line treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Med.* Apr 2021;10(7):2332-2340. doi:10.1002/cam4.3806

55. Banerjee S, Singh SK, Chowdhury I, Lillard JW, Singh R. Combinatorial effect of curcumin with docetaxel modulates apoptotic and cell survival molecules in prostate cancer. *Frontiers in bioscience*. 2017;9:235-245.

56. Epelbaum R, Schaffer M, Vizel B, Badmaev V, Bar-Sela G. Curcumin and gemcitabine in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. *Nutr Cancer*. 2010;62(8):1137-41. doi:10.1080/01635581.2010.513802

57. Pastorelli D, Fabricio ASC, Giovanis P, et al. Phytosome complex of curcumin as complementary therapy of advanced pancreatic cancer improves safety and efficacy of gemcitabine: Results of a prospective phase II trial. *Pharmacol Res.* Jun 2018;132:72-79. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2018.03.013

58. Kanai M, Yoshimura K, Asada M, et al. A phase I/II study of gemcitabine-based chemotherapy plus curcumin for patients with gemcitabine-resistant pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* Jul 2011;68(1):157-64. doi:10.1007/s00280-010-1470-2

59. James MI, Iwuji C, Irving G, et al. Curcumin inhibits cancer stem cell phenotypes in ex vivo models of colorectal liver metastases, and is clinically safe and tolerable in combination with FOLFOX chemotherapy. *Cancer Lett.* Aug 10 2015;364(2):135-41. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.05.005

60. Irving GR, Iwuji CO, Morgan B, et al. Combining curcumin (C3-complex, Sabinsa) with standard care FOLFOX chemotherapy in patients with inoperable colorectal cancer (CUFOX): study protocol for a randomised control trial. *Trials*. Mar 24 2015;16:110. doi:10.1186/s13063-015-0641-1

61. Lee JW, Park S, Kim SY, Um SH, Moon EY. Curcumin hampers the antitumor effect of vinblastine via the inhibition of microtubule dynamics and mitochondrial membrane potential in HeLa cervical cancer cells. *Phytomedicine*. Jun 15 2016;23(7):705-13. doi:10.1016/j.phymed.2016.03.011

62. Somasundaram S, Edmund NA, Moore DT, Small GW, Shi YY, Orlowski RZ. Dietary curcumin inhibits chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in models of human breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* Jul 1 2002;62(13):3868-75.

63. Zhang W, Lim LY. Effects of spice constituents on P-glycoprotein-mediated transport and CYP3A4-mediated metabolism in vitro. *Drug Metab Dispos*. Jul 2008;36(7):1283-90. doi:10.1124/dmd.107.019737

64. Chen Y, Liu WH, Chen BL, et al. Plant polyphenol curcumin significantly affects CYP1A2 and CYP2A6 activity in healthy, male Chinese volunteers. *Ann Pharmacother*. Jun 2010;44(6):1038-45. doi:10.1345/aph.1M533

65. Ryan JL, Heckler CE, Ling M, et al. Curcumin for radiation dermatitis: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trial of thirty breast cancer patients. *Radiat Res.* Jul 2013;180(1):34-43. doi:10.1667/rr3255.1

66. Ryan Wolf J, Heckler CE, Guido JJ, et al. Oral curcumin for radiation dermatitis: a URCC NCORP study of 686 breast cancer patients. *Support Care Cancer*. May 2018;26(5):1543-1552. doi:10.1007/s00520-017-3957-4

67. Rao S, Hegde SK, Baliga-Rao MP, et al. Sandalwood Oil and Turmeric-Based Cream Prevents Ionizing Radiation-Induced Dermatitis in Breast Cancer Patients: Clinical Study. *Medicines (Basel)*. Jun 24 2017;4(3)doi:10.3390/medicines4030043

68. Rao S, Dinkar C, Vaishnav LK, et al. The Indian Spice Turmeric Delays and Mitigates Radiation-Induced Oral Mucositis in Patients Undergoing Treatment for Head and Neck Cancer: An Investigational Study. *Integr Cancer Ther.* May 2014;13(3):201-10. doi:10.1177/1534735413503549

69. Delavarian Z, Pakfetrat A, Ghazi A, et al. Oral administration of nanomicelle curcumin in the prevention of radiotherapy-induced mucositis in head and neck cancers. *Spec Care Dentist*. Mar 2019;39(2):166-172. doi:10.1111/scd.12358

70. Arun P, Sagayaraj A, Azeem Mohiyuddin SM, Santosh D. Role of turmeric extract in minimising mucositis in patients receiving radiotherapy for head and neck squamous cell cancer: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *J Laryngol Otol*. Feb 7 2020:1-6. doi:10.1017/s0022215120000316

71. Zoi V, Galani V, Tsekeris P, Kyritsis AP, Alexiou GA. Radiosensitization and Radioprotection by Curcumin in Glioblastoma and Other Cancers. *Biomedicines*. Jan 28 2022;10(2)doi:10.3390/biomedicines10020312

72. Momtazi-Borojeni AA, Ghasemi F, Hesari A, Majeed M, Caraglia M, Sahebkar A. Anti-Cancer and Radio-Sensitizing Effects of Curcumin in Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma. *Curr Pharm Des*. 2018;24(19):2121-2128. doi:10.2174/1381612824666180522105202

73. Jagetia GC. Radioprotection and radiosensitization by curcumin. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2007;595:301-20. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-46401-5\_13

74. Boretti A. Evidence for the use of curcumin in radioprotection and radiosensitization. *Phytother Res.* Feb 2024;38(2):464-469. doi:10.1002/ptr.7803

75. Liu J, Li M, Wang Y, Luo J. Curcumin sensitizes prostate cancer cells to radiation partly via epigenetic activation of miR-143 and miR-143 mediated autophagy inhibition. *J Drug Target*. Aug 2017;25(7):645-652. doi:10.1080/1061186x.2017.1315686

76. Yallapu MM, Maher DM, Sundram V, Bell MC, Jaggi M, Chauhan SC. Curcumin induces chemo/radio-sensitization in ovarian cancer cells and curcumin nanoparticles inhibit ovarian cancer cell growth. *J Ovarian Res.* Apr 29 2010;3:11. doi:10.1186/1757-2215-3-11

77. Hidayat YM, Wagey F, Suardi D, Susanto H, Laihad BJ, Tobing MDL. Analysis of Curcumin as a Radiosensitizer in Cancer Therapy with Serum Survivin Examination: Randomised Control Trial. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* Jan 1 2021;22(1):139-143. doi:10.31557/apjcp.2021.22.1.139

78. Hussaarts K, Hurkmans DP, Oomen-de Hoop E, et al. Impact of Curcumin (with or without Piperine) on the Pharmacokinetics of Tamoxifen. *Cancers (Basel)*. Mar 22

2019;11(3)doi:10.3390/cancers11030403

79. Liu AC, Zhao LX, Lou HX. Curcumin alters the pharmacokinetics of warfarin and clopidogrel in Wistar rats but has no effect on anticoagulation or antiplatelet aggregation. *Planta Med.* Jul 2013;79(11):971-7. doi:10.1055/s-0032-1328652

80. Hu S, Belcaro G, Dugall M, et al. Interaction study between antiplatelet agents, anticoagulants, thyroid replacement therapy and a bioavailable formulation of curcumin (Meriva®). *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* Aug 2018;22(15):5042-5046. doi:10.26355/eurrev\_201808\_15647

81. Kim DC, Ku SK, Bae JS. Anticoagulant activities of curcumin and its derivative. *BMB Rep*. Apr 2012;45(4):221-6. doi:10.5483/bmbrep.2012.45.4.221

82. <u>https://medsafe.govt.nz/safety/EWS/2018/Turmeric.asp</u> Aa. Medsafe Safety Communication-Turmeric/Curcumin Interaction with Warfarin.

83. Marathe SA, Kumar R, Ajitkumar P, Nagaraja V, Chakravortty D. Curcumin reduces the antimicrobial activity of ciprofloxacin against Salmonella typhimurium and Salmonella typhi. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. Jan 2013;68(1):139-52. doi:10.1093/jac/dks375

84. Rahayu SI, Nurdiana N, Santoso S. The effect of curcumin and cotrimoxazole in salmonella typhimurium infection in vivo. *ISRN Microbiol*. 2013;2013:601076. doi:10.1155/2013/601076

85. Egashira K, Sasaki H, Higuchi S, Ieiri I. Food-drug interaction of tacrolimus with pomelo, ginger, and turmeric juice in rats. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*. 2012;27(2):242-7. doi:10.2133/dmpk.dmpk-11-rg-105

86. Suhail FK, Masood U, Sharma A, John S, Dhamoon A. Turmeric supplement induced hepatotoxicity: a rare complication of a poorly regulated substance. *Clin Toxicol (Phila)*. Mar 2020;58(3):216-217. doi:10.1080/15563650.2019.1632882

87. Hou XL, Takahashi K, Tanaka K, et al. Curcuma drugs and curcumin regulate the expression and function of P-gp in Caco-2 cells in completely opposite ways. *Int J Pharm.* Jun 24 2008;358(1-2):224-9. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.03.010

88. Choi HA, Kim MR, Park KA, Hong J. Interaction of over-the-counter drugs with curcumin: influence on stability and bioactivities in intestinal cells. *J Agric Food Chem*. Oct 24 2012;60(42):10578-84. doi:10.1021/jf303534e

89. Sasaki T, Sato Y, Kumagai T, Yoshinari K, Nagata K. Effect of health foods on cytochrome P450-mediated drug metabolism. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Health Care and Sciences*. 2017/05/10 2017;3(1):14. doi:10.1186/s40780-017-0083-x

90. Al-Jenoobi FI, Al-Thukair AA, Alam MA, et al. Effect of Curcuma longa on CYP2D6- and CYP3A4-mediated metabolism of dextromethorphan in human liver microsomes and healthy human subjects. *Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*. Mar 2015;40(1):61-6. doi:10.1007/s13318-014-0180-2

91. Volak LP, Hanley MJ, Masse G, et al. Effect of a herbal extract containing curcumin and piperine on midazolam, flurbiprofen and paracetamol (acetaminophen) pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* Feb 2013;75(2):450-62. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04364.x

92. Kalluru H, Mallayasamy SR, Kondaveeti SS, Chandrasekhar V, Kalachaveedu M. Effect of turmeric supplementation on the pharmacokinetics of paclitaxel in breast cancer patients: A study with population pharmacokinetics approach. *Phytother Res.* Apr 2022;36(4):1761-1769. doi:10.1002/ptr.7412

93. Gougis P, Hilmi M, Geraud A, Mir O, Funck-Brentano C. Potential cytochrome P450-mediated pharmacokinetic interactions between herbs, food, and dietary supplements and cancer treatments. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* Oct 2021;166:103342. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2021.103342

94. Gbolahan OB, O'Neil BH, McRee AJ, et al. A phase I evaluation of the effect of curcumin on dose-limiting toxicity and pharmacokinetics of irinotecan in participants with solid tumors. *Clin Transl Sci.* May 2022;15(5):1304-1315. doi:10.1111/cts.13250

95. Shah BH, Nawaz Z, Pertani SA, et al. Inhibitory effect of curcumin, a food spice from turmeric, on platelet-activating factor- and arachidonic acid-mediated platelet aggregation through inhibition of thromboxane formation and Ca2+ signaling. *Biochem Pharmacol*. Oct 1 1999;58(7):1167-72. doi:10.1016/s0006-2952(99)00206-3

96. Rasyid A, Rahman AR, Jaalam K, Lelo A. Effect of different curcumin dosages on human gall bladder. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* 2002;11(4):314-8. doi:10.1046/j.1440-6047.2002.00296.x

97. Lasoff DR, Cantrell FL, Ly BT. Death associated with intravenous turmeric (Curcumin) preparation. *Clinical Toxicology*. 2018/05/04 2018;56(5):384-385. doi:10.1080/15563650.2017.1388387
98. Fruijtier-Pölloth C. Safety assessment on polyethylene glycols (PEGs) and their derivatives as used in cosmetic products. *Toxicology*. 2005/10/15/ 2005;214(1):1-38. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2005.06.001

99. Standish L LK, Whinkin E, et al. . Parenteral Curcumin Outcomes in Advanced Solid Tumors. *OncANP 2022 virtual conference 2022*;